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          1  TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Good morning. I'm

          3  Gale Brewer, and I chair the Committee on Technology

          4  In Government. We are joined her by Council Member

          5  Tish James, who is from Brooklyn and a member of

          6  this Committee, and Bruce Lai, who is a Policy

          7  Analyst for the Committee, and we're here to talk

          8  about a bill, Intro. No. 378, which would save

          9  energy by in a very user-friendly fashion to figure

         10  out a way that our technology usage, computers in

         11  particular, are turned off, because I believe that

         12  the personalities of New Yorkers or Americans is

         13  such that we don't follow energy-efficient measures

         14  on a regular basis.

         15                 Yesterday Bruce and I met with the

         16  Head of Technology for South Korea, and I think

         17  actually he went from the Committee on Technology

         18  over to DoITT. But I asked him, I asked what do

         19  Koreans do in terms of being energy-efficient? He

         20  said, "we always turn off our computers." So I

         21  thought that was a different personality than as

         22  Americans participate in. But anyway, we're here to

         23  talk about this with a wonderful member of the team

         24  at DoITT.

         25                 I just want to mention that in terms
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          2  of this Committee, on November 22nd at 1:00 at 250

          3  Broadway, we are going to have a hearing regarding

          4  affordable housing and technology. We will be

          5  co-sponsoring the hearing with Madeline Provenzano,

          6  who is the Chair of the Housing Committee. And as

          7  you may know, there is a group called One Economy,

          8  which is working around the United States to think

          9  of ways of wiring affordable housing so that people

         10  moving into such units have the same advantages that

         11  people who have higher income.

         12                 Again, I asked the gentleman who is

         13  Head of Technology for the government in South

         14  Korea, and I said, how do you handle something like

         15  this? Oh, he said, everybody in Korea is wired. That

         16  is not an issue.

         17                 So, we have lots to work on in terms

         18  of that topic. And then during the month of

         19  December, the beginning of the month with the date

         20  to be decided, in Council Member Tisch's great

         21  Borough of Brooklyn, we will have a hearing on

         22  broad-band, talking about ways that the small

         23  businesses non-profit in that borough can be

         24  informed and educated and get their input in terms

         25  of ways in which a faster connection, less expensive
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          2  connection, is possible so that they can do their

          3  business in a more efficient manner.

          4                 And we've working extensively with

          5  the Brooklyn Chamber of Commerce. Ken Adams and his

          6  staff. They've actually done some surveys regarding

          7  the demand. I think there's not a lot of demand for

          8  some of these services, because people don't know

          9  what is available.

         10                 So, for the issue at hand today,

         11  November 5th, we're delighted to have Ron Bergman,

         12  who is a wonderful team member of DoITT, if you'd

         13  like to begin. And thank you very much for joining

         14  us here today.

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN: Good

         16  morning, Council Member Brewer and members of the

         17  Technology In Government Committee. Thank you for

         18  having me here today.

         19                 My name is Ron Bergmann, Deputy

         20  Commissioner of the Office of the CIO, at the

         21  Department of Information Technology and

         22  Telecommunications, DoITT.

         23                 I am pleased to join you today to

         24  provide our testimony on Intro. 378, proposed

         25  legislation relating to the energy-efficient use of
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          2  office equipment.

          3                 Power management is a process that

          4  allows office devices to enter low-power states when

          5  sitting idle. This technology reduces energy

          6  consumption when the equipment is not in active use.

          7                 In addition to the environmental

          8  benefits of reduced energy consumption and the

          9  potential for cost savings, power management is

         10  generally thought to improve equipment reliability

         11  by reducing waste heat.

         12                 Along with this Committee, we believe

         13  that reducing the power consumption of office

         14  equipment is an important goal. It is the City's

         15  policy to purchase the most energy-efficient office

         16  equipment possible.

         17                 In fact, in accordance with Local Law

         18  30, in Fiscal Year '04, the City procured over $60

         19  million in computer-related equipment that was

         20  Energy Star compliant.

         21                 As you know, Energy Star is a

         22  government-backed program that helps businesses and

         23  individuals protect the environment through superior

         24  energy efficiency.

         25                 We are also examining opportunities
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          2  to further leverage power management through

          3  commercial software, such as Verdiem, as well as

          4  no-cost software, such as EZ Save.

          5                 EZ Save is a monitor and management

          6  software that has been developed by the

          7  Environmental Protection Administration and the

          8  Department of Energy.

          9                 Given concerns over powering down the

         10  central processing unit, or CPU, of a computer,

         11  monitor power management represents a typical

         12  starting point in that monitors can account for

         13  significant portion of a PC's overall energy

         14  consumption.

         15                 As with technology generally, the

         16  area of power management is evolving. There are a

         17  few products that are currently on the market and

         18  they are at different levels of maturity.

         19                 Technology-related decisions must be

         20  carefully considered, based on a thorough assessment

         21  of costs, benefits and impacts.

         22                 As such, it would be premature to

         23  support the proposed legislation as drafted. Let me

         24  describe some of the concerns that the proposed

         25  legislation raises. One concern relates to

                                                            8

          1  TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2  operational issues, and the other relates to fully

          3  understanding the actual costs and savings.

          4                 First, the City's IT infrastructure

          5  is vast, which makes the implementation of the

          6  proposed initiative difficult to deploy and enforce.

          7  Agencies largely administer their own computer

          8  operations and have a diverse array of equipment,

          9  operating systems and applications, some of which

         10  may conflict with third-party software.

         11                 Contemporary operating systems

         12  already have features which provide power management

         13  functionality.

         14                 The introduction of power management

         15  software, as with any other software, requires

         16  testing for compatibility to assure overall system

         17  performance before it is put into production.

         18                 As you know, some City operations are

         19  mission critical and operate on a 24 by 7 basis. The

         20  3-1-1 Citizen Service Center, at my own agency, is

         21  an example of such an operation.

         22                 In other cases, desktop computers

         23  need to remain powered-up during off hours to allow

         24  network administrators to install patches and

         25  updates required to keep computers running
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          2  efficiently.

          3                 These updates are critical in

          4  defending against the growing number of virus and

          5  worm threats that, if not addressed, can potentially

          6  render City operations inoperable.

          7                 Second, as you know, a thorough

          8  analysis is required to ensure that technology

          9  initiatives live up to their initial promise of cost

         10  savings. On the cost side, the purchase price of

         11  commercial software licenses needs to be considered,

         12  along with expenses associated with installation and

         13  ongoing support and maintenance.

         14                 Projected savings requires an

         15  in-depth analysis based on a number of factors,

         16  including the type of equipment, the electricity

         17  rates for the building, and a determination as to

         18  whether machines are usually turned off and if

         19  computers are already using power-saving features.

         20                 Rather than legislation, we support

         21  an approach similar to the one outlined by the New

         22  York State Energy Research and Development

         23  Authority, or NYSERDA. NYSERDA's "three e's" refer

         24  to Enabling, Educating and Empowering users by

         25  activating a computer's energy-efficient operations,
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          2  educating users, for example, to understand that

          3  screen savers can actually waste energy, and

          4  building awareness that employees are contributing

          5  to a cleaner environment when they save power.

          6                 In closing, I want to reiterate the

          7  Administration's support for the concept of the

          8  proposed legislation. We will continue to purchase

          9  equipment that is energy-efficient, and we will

         10  continue to evaluate emerging power management

         11  solutions and best practices.

         12                 We look forward to working with you

         13  and I thank you for the opportunity to present our

         14  views.

         15                 I would now be pleased to respond to

         16  your questions.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

         18  much.

         19                 One, I think you know, because you

         20  had staff here last time, that the company that does

         21  this and is doing it for the City Council did

         22  testify. And I did ask them exactly one of your

         23  points on page two, which is what happens when you

         24  have the Sheriff's Office or 3-1-1 or agencies that

         25  are working 24/7; and they made the point that I
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          2  guess in other cities what they've done is to opt

          3  out. So those particular agencies could opt out.

          4                 So, and the other question, though,

          5  is, in one of the other points I'd like you to

          6  respond to that, is that even if a particular unit

          7  is not this user-friendly you must turn off, I was

          8  in the office, as I said the last time we had a

          9  hearing, one of my usual 250 Broadway late night

         10  ventures, and all of a sudden the user-friendly box

         11  came on and said, you know, your computer is turned

         12  off now unless you tell us to keep it on one hour,

         13  two hours, and I said, oh, this is it. And it was a

         14  very non-threatening kind of box.

         15                 So, my understanding is that this

         16  software that we're talking about can in fact also

         17  not put that kind of venue on the monitor, but can

         18  in fact keep tabs of how energy efficient each unit

         19  is.

         20                 So, how do you, if we're not

         21  proposing, or if you're not proposing this

         22  particular venue, but thinking about the education,

         23  the three e's, as you suggested, how do you keep

         24  tabs of which unit is being turned off or not, and

         25  which unit is efficient or not?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN: Sure.

          3  If we go with the approach similar to the three e's,

          4  it doesn't mean that we do not continue to explore

          5  software such as Verdiem and others that can help us

          6  improve energy efficiency. The fact is that we want

          7  to be able to use products. We want to be able to

          8  assure that the savings is, in fact, there, and that

          9  they make a difference. And in addition, want to be

         10  sure that they're compatible with a variety of

         11  applications and operating systems that agencies

         12  currently have.

         13                 And so we are setting up a test

         14  environment. We are working with the people from

         15  Verdiem, some of them are here today, so that we can

         16  really go through with and do this kind of testing

         17  and begin the process of assessing this.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: So, does the City

         19  of New York have an energy management program now,

         20  or what you're talking about is the approach that

         21  you're taking?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN: We do.

         23  The City has programs and initiatives to raise

         24  awareness and seek opportunities for energy savings

         25  that's reflected in the procurement relating to the
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          2  Energy Star equipment, and it's through that kind of

          3  initiative that we've actually found Verdiem.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay. Does

          5  Verdiem, can you just describe how it works

          6  differently than the company that is working with

          7  the City Council? Or just any concept of a box that

          8  comes on that says you must turn off, your computer

          9  will be turned off now, unless you want to keep it

         10  longer? What's the difference in what you're

         11  planning, versus what the City Council is using

         12  currently?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN: I'm not

         14  sure there is a difference. I think the issue is to

         15  deal with multiple sites, multiple agency

         16  environments, different types of equipment,

         17  buildings that have different electricity rates, and

         18  so to understand how across the diverse environment

         19  of the City of New York, how this would operate.

         20                 So, I think the approach is to

         21  understand pilot test. In fact, there are some tests

         22  currently at City University with regard to the

         23  software, and so we are interested in understanding

         24  what their experience is, as well as the Council.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Because I know
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          2  that some companies in their field only deal with

          3  computers, but it sounds like you're also thinking

          4  about this, particularly in terms of the Energy Star

          5  that is more than computers; is that something, I

          6  think that the larger office machines are already

          7  more compliant in terms of energy efficiency.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN: Right.

          9  Our focus within DoITT, of course, is primarily with

         10  the IT environment. But I agree with you that most

         11  office machines have embedded within them the

         12  capability to power down.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay, Council

         14  member.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Just one

         16  question with regards to cost.

         17                 You had a concern with regards to

         18  this legislation. You were concerned about the

         19  actual cost and the savings related thereto. Do you

         20  have an estimation of the cost? Do you anticipate as

         21  we go forward in the next budget process, seeking

         22  such cost in your budget?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN: I think

         24  the evaluation will determine what the costs and

         25  benefits are.
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          2                 As you know, we're going into a very

          3  constrained budget environment. So, the likelihood

          4  is that any such savings would have to pay for

          5  itself, so we would not likely, although we haven't

          6  made a final decision, put in additional costs for

          7  extra software.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: I do have some

         10  concerns about the three e's, only because I think

         11  that it hasn't been something that has been

         12  activated in a real way, and I think that people

         13  don't see the value in any kind of a carrot and

         14  stick way. And I'm just wondering, is that

         15  something, I know that in our discussions, you know,

         16  sort of theoretically we know we're supposed to turn

         17  off computers unless there is some kind of an

         18  evening server update or whatever is being done. Do

         19  you feel that you have done enough for many City

         20  employees to indicate that this kind of eee must be

         21  enforced?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN: I think

         23  that we're building awareness, and that hearings

         24  like this help to focus on that.

         25                 There is more that can be done, and
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          2  we're working in that direction, in testing. And we

          3  have, for example, on our CIO portal information

          4  about the eee program, as well as some of the

          5  software that's available, so we're trying to work

          6  with our colleagues in other agencies, the Chief

          7  Information Officers, to build awareness and with

          8  our colleagues in other agencies who have an impact

          9  on energy conservation.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Do you have any

         11  sense of a ball park figure that would be in terms

         12  of a savings if the three e's were enforced and if

         13  there was some carrot and stick approach at the same

         14  time?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMAN: We

         16  really don't. And I think we need to go and have an

         17  in-depth analysis to better understand what the

         18  potential for savings is.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay. And do you

         20  have any sense of what other cities have done, or

         21  other states from governmental agencies?

         22                 I believe the federal government has

         23  an approach.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMAN: Yes, we

         25  have had some conversations with our colleagues in
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          2  other jurisdictions, and I think they're at a

          3  similar place that we are. This is relatively new.

          4  It's maturing. There's exploration in a dialogue

          5  that's evolving. So, I think that over the next

          6  several years we will see that continue, and it will

          7  become more mature, and become more part of agency

          8  and City approaches across the country.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay. Would even

         10  something like Verdiem or any other company be able

         11  to have this differentiation between those that are

         12  24/7 or those that need some kind of an update

         13  versus those that could in fact be turned off on a

         14  regular basis?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMAN: I think

         16  the majority of what we're talking about is not 24/7

         17  in terms of any environment. Those are areas that

         18  are mission critical need to be kept up, and

         19  obviously there is a limited amount of additional

         20  third-party software that's installed because of the

         21  critical nature of those systems.

         22                 So, the real focus here would be on

         23  the regular office environment where people aren't

         24  at work during evening and weekend hours for the

         25  most part.
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          2                 There already are power management

          3  capabilities in more contemporary operating systems

          4  in the energy star equipment, so much of this is

          5  possible now. I think the additional software on the

          6  third-party products adds additional value, allows

          7  for a more central management for monitoring and

          8  reporting, which can be very valuable.

          9                 But many of the functions and

         10  features relating to power management are at a early

         11  form and are embedded now in more contemporary

         12  operating systems and devices.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay.

         14                 And do you, obviously the Department

         15  of Education has done somewhat of a survey. I think

         16  Dell did it as to how many PCs they have; is that

         17  something that is also part of your discussion? Are

         18  you talking more about the other City agencies?

         19  Because there are obviously many PCs at the

         20  Department of Education.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN: Yes.

         22  And they are City agency, and would be subject to

         23  these kinds of initiatives as well.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Just two or
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          2  three more questions. You indicated that agencies

          3  largely administer their own computer operations. Is

          4  there any thought to perhaps centralizing?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN: Yes.

          6  DoITT has played a significant role over the last

          7  few years under this Administration with regard to

          8  hosting environments for agencies. We are also now

          9  deploying a robust reliable e-mail environment for

         10  many agencies. And, so, there is much more of a

         11  trend toward the central provisioning of elements of

         12  a computer system that are generic similar to the

         13  telephones, where what you want to make sure is that

         14  you have the equipment that is reliable and that is

         15  performing properly. So, DoITT is playing a large

         16  role in that regard.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And you also

         18  indicated that you were considering a pilot project

         19  with respect to this energy conservation.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN: Yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Do you have any

         22  idea what agency you would begin with, or with a

         23  pilot?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN: It will

         25  be within DoITT. Within our agency.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And in addition

          3  to 3-1-1, I also know that ACS, and I would imagine

          4  the Criminal Justice System and I guess DOE would

          5  have to operate 24/7; any other agencies that

          6  operate 24/7?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN: You

          8  know, criminal justice agencies in particular.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And, so, to

         10  that extent, so would this legislation impact the

         11  3-1-1 criminal justice system ACS?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN: Right.

         13  I think there's a provision for those agencies to

         14  opt out under the current proposed legislation, but

         15  we would --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Okay, thank

         17  you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: What's the timing

         19  on either what CUNY is doing in terms of testing

         20  software, or what you're doing in terms of looking

         21  at some alternatives?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN: CUNY,

         23  in some of the community colleges, the software is

         24  already in place, and they are testing it.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: You're talking
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          2  about Power Management software?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN: Yes.

          4  The Verdiem product in particular.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN: And at

          7  DoITT we have plans over the next several weeks to

          8  launch the test, and discussions have been held, so

          9  we're planning to do that in relative short term.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: And the in-place

         11  Energy Star, or something that would exist that's

         12  equivalent and new PCs, how is that different than

         13  what I described in the City Council?

         14                 How does the Energy Star access the

         15  power management tool?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN: There

         17  are products that allow you either to proactively go

         18  in and turn off, for example, the monitor or create

         19  settings, that allow you to power down the monitor.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: And that would be

         21  done centrally per PC?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN: That

         23  could be done by PC or in some cases centrally, and

         24  some of the Energy Star products centers and devices

         25  that, photocopy equipment for example, had that
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          2  already imbedded in the system, so that when you can

          3  hear it, a fan will go down, you'll notice that it

          4  gets quiet, and it's powering down when it's in a

          5  period of inactive use.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Well, I know that

          7  you're mostly focusing on the network and some of

          8  the IT, but I guess it would be DCAS that would be

          9  focusing more on other office equipment. Do you have

         10  some discussions?

         11                 I mean, I do think that in terms of

         12  the behavior modification of employees be included

         13  in that sense, that when there is a general office

         14  equipment that's used more by the entire staff, then

         15  you do tend to turn it off. It's sort of what we've

         16  been doing over the years. But I do find that PCs

         17  are not often turned off, even when there is no

         18  reason to keep them on.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN: Sure.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: So, I'm just

         21  wondering in terms of, are you coordinating with the

         22  DCAS? We obviously all have the same goal here which

         23  is to save every possible penny.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN: Right.

         25  We work very closely with our colleagues at DCAS,
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          2  and, for example, every time I leave the office, I

          3  turn off my monitor.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: You're quite not

          5  the typical. I hate to tell you.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN: Well, I

          7  think many people, I see people going around,

          8  turning off devices, lights and so on, and I think

          9  that, you know, we do have a sense, both a personal

         10  sense and a professional sense within government,

         11  that we have an obligation to save money and to make

         12  sure that our environment is clean.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: So, you and the

         14  Koreans are perfectly matched. Gale Brewer is not as

         15  conscientious. I need the stick which says one hour,

         16  two hours or it's going off.

         17                 One last question is, what do you

         18  envision in terms of figuring out what the savings?

         19                 In other words, would DCAS be able to

         20  give us some kind of, I mean you're obviously not

         21  DCAS, but are you both talking together about giving

         22  us some kind of cost savings due to changed

         23  practices? It's not going to work just by the three

         24  e's. I do think we need more than that. So, are you

         25  thinking perhaps because of this hearing, or just in
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          2  general because power management is evolving, that

          3  there is some way of figuring out, as the Council

          4  member indicated, what the cost savings is, and then

          5  trying to improve it as time goes on? What's the

          6  strategy for that?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN: Our

          8  goal is to work with -- we are not experts in issues

          9  around electricity rates, and we would work with our

         10  colleagues who are subject matter experts to better

         11  understand that and understand the savings

         12  associated with these products.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: And do you think

         14  that would be something that would be part of the

         15  budget discussion, or in terms of this year, this

         16  fiscal year coming up?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN:

         18  Frankly, I'm not sure about that. I think we're

         19  still at the beginning stages of evaluating that.

         20  We'd have to see what the evaluation looks like.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: And do you think

         22  that there will be more or different power

         23  management tools? Obviously, as you suggested, some

         24  of the new hardware, software, would include

         25  imbedded this kind of savings. And, of course, if

                                                            25

          1  TECHNOLOGY IN GOVERNMENT

          2  we're talking PCs that are actually wireless, or

          3  that they are laptops and so on, then this is a moot

          4  question. But until we are completely wireless and

          5  completely in a different stage, which I think is a

          6  long time, we still need to think of saving this

          7  energy.

          8                 So, do you have some sense of, again,

          9  just back to this timing, as to what the power

         10  management discussion would be for next fiscal year,

         11  or just, you know, are we on the same track? Do you

         12  think it will change from a year from now, in terms

         13  of really making sure that every office equipment,

         14  be it IT or other, is some kind of a feature on it

         15  that is clear that there is a program for each

         16  office or each agency?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN: I think

         18  that over the next year there is growing awareness

         19  about these products, that there is new equipment

         20  that is replacing older equipment, and that in fact

         21  the marketplace may also evolve with new software

         22  and products that may enable this in different ways.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And besides

         25  City resources, do you know if there is any matching
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          2  funds from the federal government and/or state

          3  government for power management?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN: I do

          5  believe that the New York Power Authority offers

          6  some incentives as part of the rebates with

          7  electricity rates and so on, so that's part of what

          8  we have to look at and assess as well.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

         10  much. And I appreciate DoITT being here today and we

         11  will keep the discussion going on trying to save

         12  money and being energy efficient.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN: Thank

         14  you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

         16  much.

         17                 Are there any other people who would

         18  like to testify?

         19                 All right, this is a very short

         20  hearing, compared to many of our discussions, but

         21  the fact of the matter is that we will have our

         22  hearing on November 22nd to talk about affordable

         23  housing and ways in which those in those units,

         24  residents of those units can participate in the

         25  ongoing technology revolution. We'll talk about
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          2  broadband in the month of December.

          3                 Obviously many topics are coming up

          4  on the federal level. I know there is an FCC

          5  decision coming down on what voice over is part of,

          6  in terms of a category, and that will make a big

          7  difference in our City.

          8                 Thank you very much for being here

          9  today, and we look forward to seeing you at the next

         10  hearing.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 (Hearing concluded at 10:35 a.m.)
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          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 5th day of November 2004.
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